Mesenchymal stem cells and tendon healing

Alphonsus KS Chong¹, James Chang², James CH Go³

¹Department of Hand and Reconstructive Microsurgery, National University Hospital, Singapore, ²Division of Plastic Surgery, Stanford University Medical Center, Stanford, California, USA, ³Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Tendons Structure and Function
- 4. Tendon Disorders
- 5. Mesenchymal Stem Cells
- 6. Mechanisms of action of MSCs
- 7. Enhancing Tendon Healing with MSCs
- 8. Key Areas for Development
 - 8.1. Use of Allogeneic MSCs
 - 8.2. Optimization of MSC culture
 - 8.3. Gene Therapy
 - 8.4. The Role of Mechanical Stimulation
- 9. Navigating the regulatory framework for MSC based therapies

10. Perspective

11. References

1. ABSTRACT

Tendons transmit forces generated by muscle to move the joints they cross. Tendon problems are complicated by slow and incomplete healing as well as re-injury. Mesenchymal stem cell based therapies show promise in improving outcomes. Much of the work has been experimental, although early clinical use in equine strain-induced tendon injury supports the efficacy of this strategy. While much has been studied about the mechanisms of action of implanted MSCs, the relative importance of the various mechanisms is still unknown. Key areas of research that could prove pivotal in the clinical use of MSCs include the use of allogeneic cells, optimization of MSC culture, gene therapy, and mechanical stimulation techniques.

2. INTRODUCTION

Tendon problems are complicated by slow and incomplete healing. Acute flexor tendon injuries and Achilles tendon ruptures are two common tendon problems which require long rehabilitation and prolonged time off work, and are associated with significant complications (1-3). Tissue engineering strategies (4), particularly mesenchymal stem cell based therapies, are promising to improve outcomes in tendon disorders (5, 6). This review outlines the concepts of tendon disorders and mesenchymal stem cell therapy, highlighting significant advances and discussing key areas for further work.

3. TENDONS – STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

Tendons are dense connective tissue structures connecting muscle to bone. The junction where the tendon

inserts into the bone is the enthesis. Two forms of entheses exist. The first is the fibrous or direct type, where the tendon inserts directly into bone, typically seen on metaphyses and diaphyses of long bones. The second form is the fibrocartilage enthesis, where a transitional zone of fibrocartilage is seen, usually in epiphyses and apophyses. (7) They transmit forces generated by muscle to move the joints they cross. The mechanical behavior of tendon is critical to this function. Tendons have a hierarchical structure which affects their biomechanical properties (8). However, tendons are not merely passive and inert structures conducting forces. Their compliance is important for elastic energy storage and supplies mechanical work for activities such as running (7, 9). In addition, they are capable of biological adaptation following changes to their mechanical environment resulting from injury. disease or following exercise (10-12).

Tendons are often discussed in concert with ligaments, which are related connective tissues to tendon and connect bone to bone. While tendons and ligaments have structural similarities, their functions are different (7). The primary function of ligaments is to maintain stability of joints by preventing excessive or abnormal motion. This function is assisted by their contribution to proprioception. In addition, they may provide attachment to muscles and prevent tendons from bowstringing (7).

Two forms of tendons exist. Intrasynovial tendons have a synovial sheath such as the flexor tendons of the hand and feet. Other tendons are extrasynovial. The synovial sheath of intrasynovial tendons, found in the hand and foot, allows the tendons to glide freely and produces synovial fluid to contribute to tendon nutrition. The synovial sheath resemble the synovium of joints. There is a visceral synovial sheath which covers the tendon which connects to an outer parietal sheath carrying blood vessels, lymphatics and nerves to and from the tendon. The synovial fluid within the sheath plays a vital role in tendon nutrition, contributing 90% of the nutrition (13), as intrasynovial tendons do not have a well developed intratendinous vascular network. Studies of tendon healing have demonstrated significant differences in healing of extrasynovial and intrasynovial tendons. Profound differences have been found in repair responses of intrasynovial and extrasynovial tendon grafts. In general, intrasynovial tendon grafts appear to heal via intrinsic mechanisms. Extrasynovial tendon grafts, on the other hand, tended to show widespread ingrowth of new vessels and cells with adhesion formation (14).

4. TENDON DISORDERS

Two commonly encountered clinical tendon problems are acute injury or chronic tendinopathy (15, 16). Tendon injuries are common and occur as a result of direct trauma or rupture following sports or other rigorous activities. The direct and indirect costs of tendon injuries are high, especially since these injuries occur in young and economically active individuals (17). Long term complications are also seen. For example, following flexor tendon injury, many patients are left with permanent loss of range-of-motion, thus impacting on quality of life (18). In addition, as the tendon never regains its original strength, the risk of repeat injuries remains (19).

Another common problem is tendinopathy, a condition marked by failed healing response of the tendon (20, 21). This condition causes pain and tenderness, and can be complicated by becoming a chronic condition or tendon rupture. Tendinopathy is most commonly seen in the shoulders, elbows, knees, hips, heels or wrists, and is most commonly caused by injury or overuse due to excessive repetitive movements. Clinical examples include Achilles tenodinopathy, rotator cuff tendinopathy and trigger finger (22-24). Tendinopathy can also be associated with inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis. In its early stages, tendinopathy may respond to rest and activity modification or treatment with steroids. However, once chronic or associated with tendon rupture, surgery to the damaged tendon or repair or reconstruction of the tendon is necessary. While there is little published research on the role of MSCs in uncomplicated human tendinopathy, developments on a similar condition affecting horses will be reviewed.

5. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

In the past decade, there has been increasing attempts to modulate tendon healing to improve the outcome in tendon disorders. This has included the using of cytokines or growth factors, as well as gene therapy (25-28). One important strategy has been the use of cells, particularly mesenchymal stem cells, to achieve this. Stem cells have two main features, the ability to differentiate along different lineage pathways and the ability for selfrenewal (29). Two major types of stem cells have been described, embryonic stem cells and adult stem cells. Embryonic stem cells are obtained from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst and are associated with ethical issues (30) and the risk of tumorigenesis (31-33). These problems are less pronounced in adult stem cells, which still maintain their multipotency, and make them an attractive choice for clinical applications.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are stromal cells that have the ability for self-renewal and exhibit the capability for multi-lineage differentiation (34, 35). While MSCs have been isolated from a variety of tissues including muscle, umbilical cord and synovium (36), most studies utilize MSCs from bone marrow or adipose tissue. This is because the ease of harvest and quantity obtained make these sources most practical for experimental and possible clinical applications.

A clear understanding of the determinants of "stemness" in stem cells is important to fully maximize the potential of these cells, but the search for a molecular code for stemness has been elusive. One possible reason is that the properties of self-renewal and differential potential, although key features of these cells, are not by themselves exclusive to stem cells. Stem cells may be viewed as cells halted in their progression towards differentiation. This state is maintained both by intrinsic cell properties and the environmental niche where the stem cell resides (37).

6. MECHANISMS OF ACTION OF MSCS

Several possible mechanisms of action of MSCs to enhance healing have been suggested. There is *in vivo* and *in vitro* evidence supporting the possibility of these mechanisms. However at this point in time it is still uncertain which of these mechanisms are important in the *in vivo* situation, as well as their relative contributions to the overall healing process. MSCs may act in an autocrine and paracrine fashion to enhance tendon healing (38). Studies using MSCs to treat myocardial infarction support this mechanism of action. MSC-conditioned media injected into infarct sites following myocardial infarcted area and improve left ventricular function (39, 40).

The ability of mesenchymal stem cells to differentiate into lineage-specific cells is clear. However, it is uncertain if this is the major pathway by which the stem cells produce their effects. Only small numbers of MSC differentiate at all, and they may not fully integrate with the host tissue (41).

Finally, human BMSCs transfer mitochondria to cells with non-functional mitochondria. A recent study showed that adult mesenchymal stem cells can dynamically transfer mitochondria or mtDNA to rescue aerobic respiration (42). Injuries to mitochondria are common early events in animal models, explaining why functional improvements may be seen despite lack of long-term incorporation of implanted cells.

7. ENHANCING TENDON HEALING WITH MSCS

A mesenchymal stem cell-collagen gel construct to bridge a 1 cm rabbit Achilles tendon defect showed better structural and material properties when compared to controls up to 12 weeks following implantation (43). Using a similar experimental model, a tendon construct of knitted poly-lactide-co-glycolide (PLGA) seeded with allogeneic bone marrow stromal cells (bMSCs) showed improved histological and mechanical properties up to 12 weeks after implantation (44). Transgenic rat studies have shown than implanted mesenchymal stem cells could be detected at the site of healing ligaments up to 28 days. The implanted cells were morphologically similar to the surrounding cells, suggesting that they had differentiated (45). Much of the experimental work has been performed using models of tendon defects or gaps. However, in the clinical setting, tendon ruptures or lacerations which can be primarily repaired are much more common, and exhibit slow healing and adhesion formation. Work on the effect of mesenchymal stem cell therapy to modulate healing is much more limited. We studied the use of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells in a fibrin carrier to enhance healing after rabbit Achilles tendon primary healing. Our results showed improved histological, nuclear morphometric and material properties at 3 weeks when compared to controls. However, results were similar at 12 weeks. This suggests that mesenchymal stem cells accelerate but do not change the ultimate result of tendon healing. One concern about the implantation of MSCs

within an injury site, particularly with the use of allogeneic cells is whether this will cause increased inflammation and scarring. However, we did not see an increase in inflammatory cells at the repair site (46).

While the work described above have been in laboratory animals, MSCs have been applied clinically in horses, mainly in the treatment of strain-induced tendon injury. This is of major importance among competitive racehorse owners, where superficial digital flexor tendinopathy is a common source of wastage. The condition is associated with a failure to return to competitive performance and may recur (47). Clearly, the results of these trials are of great interest to the medical community interested in translating this technology to human applications. However there are significant differences in the equine strain-induced flexor tendon injury compared to the acute injuries and tendinopathy in humans. In equine digital flexor tendon strain injuries, the lesion is seen in the central core of the tendon with relatively intact surrounding tendon or paratenon in the periphery. In contrast, acute tendon injuries in humans are usually complete ruptures or lacerations. Smith and colleagues re-implanted in-vitro expanded autologous MSCs into a damaged superficial digital flexor tendon of a pony who had suffered a strain-induced injury and showed no post-procedural tendon swelling or lameness. Direct bone marrow aspirate without enrichment for MSCs have also been used successfully. In 100 horses with suspensory ligament injuries receiving bone marrow, 84% of them returned to full work compared to 15% of 66 horses managed conservatively (19).

8. KEY AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT

The work thus far has laid the important foundations necessary for exploring the usefulness of MSC therapy in enhancing tendon healing. To translate the technology to the bedside, much work is still needed. While a better understanding of the basic mechanisms of tendon development and healing is important and will continue, there are four areas that could provide the cornerstones in the quest for successful clinical application of MSCs. These are: the use of allogeneic MSCs, optimal MSC culture conditions, gene therapy and mechanical stimulation.

8.1 Use of Allogeneic MSCs

Much work has been done using autologous cells for tissue engineering applications. This is clearly advantageous from the point of histocompatability (48). Transmission of infectious agents is also eliminated, although the risk of introduction of infectious agents during the *ex vivo* expansion step is still present. Finally, the regulatory hurdles required to bring this technology to clinical use is much less when compared to allogeneic cells.

However the use of allogeneic cells has several benefits. In clinical situations such as acute tendon injuries, repair or reconstruction needs to be within days to maximize outcome potential. In this instance, it is not possible to allow cell harvest and *ex vivo* expansion before implantation. An "off-the-shelf" solution using allogeneic cells would overcome this problem. In addition, there is individual variability in MSC harvest and detrimental changes to MSCs with age. With increasing age, the number, differentiation potential and lifespan of MSCs decrease (49-52). This has implications in the treatment of degenerative disorders common in the older age groups. Finally, the use of allogeneic cells will obviate the need for harvest, minimizing the risk of complications.

Using MSCs as an allogeneic cell source is particularly advantageous as there is mounting convincing evidence to show that MSCs are able to circumvent the normal immune response associated with the mismatched allogeneic tissue. Several clinical trials utilizing allogeneic MSCs have shown benefit with the use of these cells. Gene-marked allogeneic bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells showed incorporation and increased growth velocity in 5 of 6 children undergoing standard bone marrow transplantation for severe osteogenesis imperfecta (53). This occurred despite the lack of pre- or post-procedure chemotherapy. The immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells were used to treat severe steroid resistant acute graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) in 8 patients. Resolution of acute GVHD was seen in 6 patients and survival was significantly better compared to a group of 16 patients not receiving MSCs (54). Allogeneic bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells also incorporated successfully in patients with metachromatic leukodystrophy and Hurler syndrome (55).

The suggested mechanisms by which bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells avoid immune rejection have been reviewed recently (56). These include hypoimmunogenicity of the MSCs themselves, the prevention of T cell responses by MSCs and the fact that the MSCs can induce a suppressive local environment.

8.2. Optimization of MSC culture

One important step in the development of MSC based clinical applications is *in vitro* expansion of the cells, as the number of stem cells that can be feasibly harvested using current techniques is limited. Standard culture media contain nonhuman serum, commonly obtained from fetal calves. This may be a source of possible contamination (e.g. bovine spongiform encephalopathy from prions) or immune reaction to xenogenic proteins. This problem is more than theoretical as significant reactions such as arthus-like reactions and cellular cardiomyoplasty causing sudden death after fetal calf serum based therapies have been described (57, 58). This issue must be carefully addressed before widespread clinical use of MSC based treatments will reach the bedside.

While efforts have been made to develop human serum and blood derived and serum free alternatives to nonhuman serum, no clear superior alternative has yet to emerge (59). Autologous serum/plasma preserves differential potential and increases cell proliferation but is of limited availability and has been associated with variability. Studies using allogeneic serum and plasma are contradictory. Some have been successful in isolating and expanding MSCs but others have reported senescence and growth arrest. (60-63).

8.3. Gene Therapy

Gene therapy involves transfer of genetic material into individuals for therapeutic purposes by altering cellular function or structure at the molecular level (64). Recently, there has been great interest in using MSCs as the cellular vehicle for these genes, due to the capacity for self-renewal, differentiation potential and homing abilities of the MSCs. Various forms of viral and non-viral approaches to introduce transgenes into MSCs have been used (65). Successful introduction of transgenes in vivo has been demonstrated (66, 67). Adenovirus mediated in vitro BMP-12 gene transfer into tenocytes increased type I collagen synthesis, and resulted in a two-fold increase of tensile strength and stiffness of repaired flexor tendons (28). Both BMP 14 and GDF 5 transfer have also been shown to improve the quality of healing in animal models of tendon healing (68, 69). The introduction of the appropriate therapeutic genes could further enhance the effectiveness of MSCs for tendon healing.

8.4. The Role of Mechanical Stimulation

Mechanical stress is an important modulator of cell physiology (70). In tendon, biomechanical properties adapt to disuse and exercise (71). This insight has lead to efforts to use mechanical stimulation ex vivo in the form of tissue "bioreactors" to enhance the properties of tissue engineered tendon constructs before implantation in vivo, given the inferior biomechanical properties of tissue engineered constructs when compared to native tendon Intermittent uniaxial strain has been shown to (72)improve the ultimate tensile stress of engineered tendons by 3 fold (73). Constant strain when applied in vitro has also been shown to improve the biomechanical characteristics of tendon constructs (74). Further work utilizing MSCs with mechanical stimulation in the development of tissue engineered tendons could prove this to be a winning combination.

9. NAVIGATING THE REGULATORY FRAMEWORK FOR MSC BASED THERAPIES

In the quest towards a stem-cell based clinical product, a series of regulatory hurdles will need to be crossed. While this is country specific, the process of approval from the American Food and Drug Administration (FDA) will most important, because the market there will be one of the largest for the foreseeable future. The FDA has recently promulgated a comprehensive regulatory framework covering stem-cell based products (75). As there is a high likelihood that stem-cell based products will come from academic laboratories, familiarity with the regulations and how to address the important issues is important. These issues include donor cell screening, cell contamination and damage, cell purity and potency and *in vivo* safety and efficacy of the product (76).

From the current state of affairs, much work still needs to be performed to address each of these issues before an MSC based product for tendon repair will be available. For MSCs, determining cell purity and potency is particularly challenging because of the lack of specific markers to clearly identify mesenchymal stem cells.

10. PERSPECTIVE

The advances in understanding the biology of tendon healing, stem cell biology and the early work in MSC therapy to enhance tendon healing is opening a new era in the treatment of tendon disorders. Clearly much work is still necessary, but there is much promise that MSCs will have an important role in the management of tendon disorders in the near future.

11. REFERENCES

1. D Osada, S Fujita, K Tamai, T Yamaguchi, A Iwamoto & K Saotome: Flexor tendon repair in zone II with 6-strand techniques and early active mobilization. *J Hand Surg* [*Am*], 31, 987-92 (2006)

2. RJ Khan, D Fick, TJ Brammar, J Crawford & MJ Parker: Interventions for treating acute Achilles tendon ruptures. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* CD003674 (2004)

3. K Vucekovich, G Gallardo & K Fiala: Rehabilitation after flexor tendon repair, reconstruction, and tenolysis. *Hand Clin*, 21, 257-65 (2005)

4. PO Bagnaninchi, Y Yang, AJ El Haj & N Maffulli: Tissue engineering for tendon repair. *Br J Sports Med*, 41, e10; discussion e10 (2007)

5. PK Beredjiklian: Biologic aspects of flexor tendon laceration and repair. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*, 85-A, 539-50 (2003)

6. AK Chong & J Chang: Tissue engineering for the hand surgeon: a clinical perspective. *J Hand Surg [Am]*, 31, 349-58 (2006)

7. M Benjamin & JR Ralphs: Tendons and ligaments--an overview. *Histol Histopathol*, 12, 1135-44 (1997)

8. SL Woo, KN An, CB Frank, GA Livesay, CB Ma, BS Zeminski, JS Wayne & BS Myers: Anatomy, Biology and Biomechanics of Tendon and Ligament. In: Orthopaedic Basic Science: Biology and Biomechanics of the Musculoskeletal System. Eds: Buckwalter JA, Einhorn TA&Simon SR. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, (2000)

9. TJ Roberts, RL Marsh, PG Weyand & CR Taylor: Muscular force in running turkeys: the economy of minimizing work. *Science*, 275, 1113-5 (1997)

10. JH Wang: Mechanobiology of tendon. J Biomech, 39, 1563-82 (2006)

11. SP Magnusson, MV Narici, CN Maganaris & M Kjaer: Human tendon behaviour and adaptation, *in vivo. J Physiol* (2007)

12. TW Lin, L Cardenas & LJ Soslowsky: Biomechanics of tendon injury and repair. *J Biomech*, 37, 865-77 (2004)

13. PR Manske & PA Lesker: Comparative nutrient pathways to the flexor profundus tendons in Zone II of various experimental animals. *J Surg Res*, 34, 83-93 (1983)

14. JG Seiler, 3rd, CR Chu, D Amiel, SL Woo & RH Gelberman: The Marshall R. Urist Young Investigator Award. Autogenous flexor tendon grafts. Biologic mechanisms for incorporation. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*239-47 (1997)

15. N Maffulli: Re: Etiologic factors associated with symptomatic Achilles tendinopathy. *Foot Ankle Int*, 28, 660; author reply 660-1 (2007)

16. AM Vora, MS Myerson, F Oliva & N Maffulli: Tendinopathy of the main body of the Achilles tendon. *Foot Ankle Clin*, 10, 293-308 (2005)

17. HE Rosberg, KS Carlsson, S Hojgard, B Lindgren, G Lundborg & LB Dahlin: What determines the costs of repair and rehabilitation of flexor tendon injuries in zone II? A multiple regression analysis of data from southern Sweden. *J Hand Surg [Br]*, 28, 106-12 (2003)

18. JB Tang: Clinical outcomes associated with flexor tendon repair. *Hand Clin*, 21, 199-210 (2005)

19. DJ Herthel: Enhanced suspensory ligament healing in 100 horses by stem cells and other bone marrow components. *Proc Am Ass Equine Practnrs*, 47, 319-321 (2001)

20. P Sharma & N Maffulli: Tendon injury and tendinopathy: healing and repair. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*, 87, 187-202 (2005)

21. M Magra & N Maffulli: Genetics: does it play a role in tendinopathy? *Clin J Sport Med*, 17, 231-3 (2007)

22. M Ryzewicz & JM Wolf: Trigger digits: principles, management, and complications. *J Hand Surg [Am]*, 31, 135-46 (2006)

23. T Baring, R Emery & P Reilly: Management of rotator cuff disease: specific treatment for specific disorders. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*, 21, 279-94 (2007)

24. N Maffulli & D Kader: Tendinopathy of tendo achillis. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*, 84, 1-8 (2002)

25. J Chang, R Thunder, D Most, MT Longaker & WC Lineaweaver: Studies in flexor tendon wound healing: neutralizing antibody to TGF-beta1 increases postoperative range of motion. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, 105, 148-55 (2000)

26. C Hsu & J Chang: Clinical implications of growth factors in flexor tendon wound healing. *J Hand Surg [Am]*, 29, 551-63 (2004)

27. J Lou, PR Manske, M Aoki & ME Joyce: Adenovirusmediated gene transfer into tendon and tendon sheath. *J Orthop Res*, 14, 513-7 (1996) 28. J Lou, Y Tu, M Burns, MJ Silva & P Manske: BMP-12 gene transfer augmentation of lacerated tendon repair. *J Orthop Res*, 19, 1199-202 (2001)

29. CS Potten & M Loeffler: Stem cells: attributes, cycles, spirals, pitfalls and uncertainties. Lessons for and from the crypt. *Development*, 110, 1001-20 (1990)

30. RM Green: Can we develop ethically universal embryonic stem-cell lines? *Nat Rev Genet*, 8, 480-5 (2007)

31. DC Wu, AS Boyd & KJ Wood: Embryonic stem cell transplantation: potential applicability in cell replacement therapy and regenerative medicine. *Front Biosci*, 12, 4525-35 (2007)

32. DE Baker, NJ Harrison, E Maltby, K Smith, HD Moore, PJ Shaw, PR Heath, H Holden & PW Andrews: Adaptation to culture of human embryonic stem cells and oncogenesis *in vivo. Nat Biotechnol*, 25, 207-15 (2007)

33. B Barrilleaux, DG Phinney, DJ Prockop & KC O'Connor: Review: *ex vivo* engineering of living tissues with adult stem cells. *Tissue Eng*, 12, 3007-19 (2006)

34. MF Pittenger, AM Mackay, SC Beck, RK Jaiswal, R Douglas, JD Mosca, MA Moorman, DW Simonetti, S Craig & DR Marshak: Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science*, 284, 143-7 (1999)

35. MF Pittenger & BJ Martin: Mesenchymal stem cells and their potential as cardiac therapeutics. *Circ Res*, 95, 9-20 (2004)

36. I Pountos & PV Giannoudis: Biology of mesenchymal stem cells. *Injury*, 36 Suppl 3, S8-S12 (2005)

37. H Mikkers & J Frisen: Deconstructing stemness. *Embo J*, 24, 2715-9 (2005)

38. AI Caplan: Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *J Cell Physiol* (2007)

39. M Gnecchi, H He, N Noiseux, OD Liang, L Zhang, F Morello, H Mu, LG Melo, RE Pratt, JS Ingwall & VJ Dzau: Evidence supporting paracrine hypothesis for Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cell-mediated cardiac protection and functional improvement. *Faseb J*, 20, 661-9 (2006)

40. M Gnecchi, H He, OD Liang, LG Melo, F Morello, H Mu, N Noiseux, L Zhang, RE Pratt, JS Ingwall & VJ Dzau: Paracrine action accounts for marked protection of ischemic heart by Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cells. *Nat Med*, 11, 367-8 (2005)

41. JM Fox, G Chamberlain, BA Ashton & J Middleton: Recent advances into the understanding of mesenchymal stem cell trafficking. *Br J Haematol*, 137, 491-502 (2007) 42. JL Spees, SD Olson, MJ Whitney & DJ Prockop: Mitochondrial transfer between cells can rescue aerobic respiration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 1283-8 (2006)

43. RG Young, DL Butler, W Weber, AI Caplan, SL Gordon & DJ Fink: Use of mesenchymal stem cells in a collagen matrix for Achilles tendon repair. *J Orthop Res*, 16, 406-13 (1998)

44. HW Ouyang, JC Goh, A Thambyah, SH Teoh & EH Lee: Knitted poly-lactide-co-glycolide scaffold loaded with bone marrow stromal cells in repair and regeneration of rabbit Achilles tendon. *Tissue Eng*, 9, 431-9 (2003)

45. N Watanabe, SL Woo, C Papageorgiou, C Celechovsky & S Takai: Fate of donor bone marrow cells in medial collateral ligament after simulated autologous transplantation. *Microsc Res Tech*, 58, 39-44 (2002)

46. AK Chong, AD Ang, JC Goh, JH Hui, AY Lim, EH Lee & BH Lim: Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells influence early tendon-healing in a rabbit achilles tendon model. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*, 89, 74-81 (2007)

47. RK Smith, M Korda, GW Blunn & AE Goodship: Isolation and implantation of autologous equine mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow into the superficial digital flexor tendon as a potential novel treatment. *Equine Vet J*, 35, 99-102 (2003)

48. JM Gimble, AJ Katz & BA Bunnell: Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. *Circ Res*, 100, 1249-60 (2007)

49. S Kern, H Eichler, J Stoeve, H Kluter & K Bieback: Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. *Stem Cells*, 24, 1294-301 (2006)

50. S Nishida, N Endo, H Yamagiwa, T Tanizawa & HE Takahashi: Number of osteoprogenitor cells in human bone marrow markedly decreases after skeletal maturation. *J Bone Miner Metab*, 17, 171-7 (1999)

51. SM Mueller & J Glowacki: Age-related decline in the osteogenic potential of human bone marrow cells cultured in three-dimensional collagen sponges. *J Cell Biochem*, 82, 583-90 (2001)

52. K Stenderup, J Justesen, C Clausen & M Kassem: Aging is associated with decreased maximal life span and accelerated senescence of bone marrow stromal cells. *Bone*, 33, 919-26 (2003)

53. EM Horwitz, PL Gordon, WK Koo, JC Marx, MD Neel, RY McNall, L Muul & T Hofmann: Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: Implications for cell therapy of bone. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 8932-7 (2002)

54. O Ringden, M Uzunel, I Rasmusson, M Remberger, B Sundberg, H Lonnies, HU Marschall, A Dlugosz, A Szakos, Z Hassan, B Omazic, J Aschan, L Barkholt & K Le Blanc: Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of therapyresistant graft-versus-host disease. *Transplantation*, 81, 1390-7 (2006)

55. ON Koc, J Day, M Nieder, SL Gerson, HM Lazarus & W Krivit: Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell infusion for treatment of metachromatic leukodystrophy (MLD) and Hurler syndrome (MPS-IH). *Bone Marrow Transplant*, 30, 215-22 (2002)

56. JM Ryan, FP Barry, JM Murphy & BP Mahon: Mesenchymal stem cells avoid allogeneic rejection. J Inflamm (Lond), 2, 8 (2005)

57. JC Chachques, J Herreros, J Trainini, A Juffe, E Rendal, F Prosper & J Genovese: Autologous human serum for cell culture avoids the implantation of cardioverter-defibrillators in cellular cardiomyoplasty. *Int J Cardiol*, 95 Suppl 1, S29-33 (2004)

58. TA Selvaggi, RE Walker & TA Fleisher: Development of antibodies to fetal calf serum with arthus-like reactions in human immunodeficiency virusinfected patients given syngeneic lymphocyte infusions. *Blood*, 89, 776-9 (1997)

59. F Mannello & GA Tonti: Concise review: no breakthroughs for human mesenchymal and embryonic stem cell culture: conditioned medium, feeder layer, or feeder-free; medium with fetal calf serum, human serum, or enriched plasma; serum-free, serum replacement nonconditioned medium, or ad hoc formula? All that glitters is not gold! *Stem Cells*, 25, 1603-9 (2007)

60. CA Gregory, E Reyes, MJ Whitney & JL Spees: Enhanced engraftment of mesenchymal stem cells in a cutaneous wound model by culture in allogenic speciesspecific serum and administration in fibrin constructs. *Stem Cells*, 24, 2232-43 (2006)

61. A Shahdadfar, K Fronsdal, T Haug, FP Reinholt & JE Brinchmann: *In vitro* expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells: choice of serum is a determinant of cell proliferation, differentiation, gene expression, and transcriptome stability. *Stem Cells*, 23, 1357-66 (2005)

62. M Yamaguchi, F Hirayama, S Wakamoto, M Fujihara, H Murahashi, N Sato, K Ikebuchi, K Sawada, T Koike, M Kuwabara, H Azuma & H Ikeda: Bone marrow stromal cells prepared using AB serum and bFGF for hematopoietic stem cells expansion. *Transfusion*, 42, 921-7 (2002)

63. K Anselme, O Broux, B Noel, B Bouxin, G Bascoulergue, AF Dudermel, F Bianchi, J Jeanfils & P Hardouin: *In vitro* control of human bone marrow

stromal cells for bone tissue engineering. *Tissue Eng*, 8, 941-53 (2002)

64. UR Goessler, K Riedel, K Hormann & F Riedel: Perspectives of gene therapy in stem cell tissue engineering. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 183, 169-79 (2006)

65. J Reiser, XY Zhang, CS Hemenway, D Mondal, L Pradhan & VF La Russa: Potential of mesenchymal stem cells in gene therapy approaches for inherited and acquired diseases. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*, 5, 1571-84 (2005)

66. M Jayankura, C Boggione, C Frisen, O Boyer, P Fouret, G Saillant & D Klatzmann: *In situ* gene transfer into animal tendons by injection of naked DNA and electrotransfer. *J Gene Med*, 5, 618-24 (2003)

67. J Lou: *In vivo* gene transfer into tendon by recombinant adenovirus. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*S252-5 (2000)

68. P Bolt, AN Clerk, HH Luu, Q Kang, JL Kummer, ZL Deng, K Olson, F Primus, AG Montag, TC He, RC Haydon & BC Toolan: BMP-14 gene therapy increases tendon tensile strength in a rat model of Achilles tendon injury. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*, 89, 1315-20 (2007)

69. M Rickert, H Wang, P Wieloch, H Lorenz, E Steck, D Sabo & W Richter: Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of growth and differentiation factor-5 into tenocytes and the healing rat Achilles tendon. *Connect Tissue Res*, 46, 175-83 (2005)

70. DL Butler, SA Goldstein & F Guilak: Functional tissue engineering: the role of biomechanics. *J Biomech Eng*, 122, 570-5 (2000)

71. SP Magnusson, MV Narici, CN Maganaris & M Kjaer: Human tendon behaviour and adaptation, *in vivo. J Physiol*, (In Press), (2007)

72. DL Butler, N Juncosa-Melvin, GP Boivin, MT Galloway, JT Shearn, C Gooch & H Awad: Functional tissue engineering for tendon repair: A multidisciplinary strategy using mesenchymal stem cells, bioscaffolds, and mechanical stimulation. *J Orthop Res* (2007)

73. J Garvin, J Qi, M Maloney & AJ Banes: Novel system for engineering bioartificial tendons and application of mechanical load. *Tissue Eng*, 9, 967-79 (2003)

74. D Cao, W Liu, X Wei, F Xu, L Cui & Y Cao: *In vitro* tendon engineering with avian tenocytes and polyglycolic acids: a preliminary report. *Tissue Eng*, 12, 1369-77 (2006)

75. 21 C.F.R. § 1271. 2006

76. DG Halme & DA Kessler: FDA regulation of stem-cellbased therapies. *N Engl J Med*, 355, 1730-5 (2006)

Key Words: Tendon injury, Tendon Healing, Flexor Tendon, Stem Cells, Tendinopathy, Review, Mesenchymal Stem Cells, Tissue Engineering, Review Send correspondence to: Alphonsus KS Chong, Department of Hand and Reconstructive Microsurgery, National University Hospital, 5 Lower Kent Ridge Road, Singapore 119074, Tel: 6567725549, Fax: 6567732558, Email: alfchong@gmail.com

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm